FILED 
~DEC 31 201~ 

WASHINGTON STATE 
SUPREME COURT 

SUPREME COURT OF 
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

No. 71926-2-1 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION I 

RSDAAP LLC, 

Plaintiff/ Appellant/ Petitioner 

vs. 

ALYESKA OCEAN, INC.; JEFF HENDRICKS AND JANE DOE 
HENDRICKS, individually and as a marital community, 

Defendants/Respondents. 

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF RSD AAP LLC 

GORDON TILDEN THOMAS 
& CORDELL LLP 

Jeffrey I. Tilden, WSBA #12219 
Michael P. Brown, WSBA #45618 
1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4000 
Seattle, Washington 98154-1007 
Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant 
RSD AAP LLC 

r·"" ((" 

,- ) 

( _)

I. INTRODUCTION 

In 2012, the Managing Partner of the Partnership secretly 

negotiated and contracted to purchase an asset that the Partnership and all 

of the partners had a pre-existing right to purchase under their 1988 

partnership agreement. The Managing Partner sought their consent but 

didn't disclose the purchase price, the value of the asset or the fact that 

both the Partnership and the partners had a pre-existing rights to the 

asset. And the Managing Partner counted his own vote-the largest vote 

in favor by far-in securing that consent. Washington law has not 

previously and should not now condone that behavior. The Court of 

Appeals' published opinion declares that it does. This Court should accept 

review and reverse the decision. 

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner is RSD AAP LLC ("RSD"), the plaintiff in the trial court 

and the appellant in the Court of Appeals. 

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

RSD seeks review of the published September 21, 2015 decision of 

Division 1 ofthe Washington Court of Appeals, No. 71926-2-1. 

Appendix A. The Decision affirmed the Superior Court's grant of 

summary judgment dismissing all of RSD' s claims. RSD moved for 

reconsideration of the Decision, which motion was denied on October 27, 

2015. Appendix B. Review in the Court of Appeals has terminated. 

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

This Court should accept review to address the following issues: 



1. Did the paid Managing Partner breach its common law and 

statutory duty of affirmative disclosure with regard to his exploitation of 

private information for private gain, when he failed to provide material 

information to the other partners and instead of affirmative disclosure 

merely said: "feel free to call if you have any questions"? 

2. Did the paid Managing Partner breach his duty of timely 

disclosure with respect to issue 1? 

3. Did the paid Managing Partner owe augmented fiduciary 

duties to the Partnership and the other partners arising from the 

entrustment to him of exclusive management powers and responsibilities? 

4. Did the paid Managing Partner breach his duty of loyalty 

by failing to pursue the Partnership's contractual right to purchase an asset 

and instead, using his unique access to Partnership assets, including its 

records, negotiating for and purchasing the same asset for his own private 

benefit? 

5. Was the Managing Partner and third-party manager of the 

Partnership entitled to vote to "approve" his own acquisition of an asset, 

when the Partnership and the remaining partners had a competing interest 

in acquiring the same asset? 

6. Did AOI breach its statutory and common law duties of 

good faith and fair dealing in connection with the transaction? 

7. Does the Right of First Refusal contained in the partnership 

agreement, under which each partner has a proportional right to share in 

2 



the purchase of a partnership interest, apply to the Manager's attempt to 

purchase the partnership interest of a withdrawing partner? 

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Overview 

RSD brought this action to enforce its claim to a proportionate 

share of the 20.6186% interest of O'Brien Maritime, Inc. (the "O'Brien 

Interest") in the Auriga Aurora General Partnership (the "Partnership"). 

Respondent Alyeska Ocean, Inc. was and is the sole Manager of the 

Partnership (the "Manager"). It purchased the O'Brien Interest for its own 

private benefit for $4,000,000 (the "Disputed Purchase"). CP 121-23. 

The liquidation value of the O'Brien Interest at the time was $12,000,000. 

CP 125. RSD claims that the Manager holds the O'Brien Interest subject 

to a constructive trust for the benefit of all partners and the Partnership. 

CP 215-16. 

B. The Manager 

The Manager served under a Management Contract and was paid 

for its services. 1 It had "all the powers of a managing general partner 

under law." CP 69. The Manager's duties included, specifically, 

receiving and disbursing all funds, keeping the books and records and 

1 AOI was designated "Manager" in the Partnership Agreement. Mr. Hendricks, AOI's 
sole shareholder, director and president, occasionally refers to himself as "general 
manager" of the Partnership. CP 121. For simplicity, RSD will use the term ''Manager'' 
to describe both Mr. Hendricks and AOI. 
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providing all notices "required or advisable in the discretion of the 

Manager pursuant to the Partnership Agreement." !d. They also included 

the duty "to conduct the ordinary and usual business and affairs of the 

Partnership with respect to managing ... the Partnership." !d. 

C. The Partners 

In April of2012, there were 13 partners in the Partnership. RSD, 

the Manager, and O'Brien each owned a 20.6186% interest; no other 

partner owned more than 5.2%. CP 54. O'Brien withdrew from the 

Partnership on July 9, 2012, when Mark O'Brien, its sole shareholder, 

died. CP 139. 

D. The Manager's Disputed Purchase 

In April of2012 the Manager learned that Mr. O'Brien was dying 

and wished to sell the O'Brien Interest. CP 55. Motivated by what he 

described as his need to protect his continued employment, the Manager 

negotiated for and acquired the right to purchase the O'Brien Interest for 

himself. CP 125-26; Supplemental Appendix A. The Manager was aware 

that the Partnership already had the right to purchase the O'Brien Interest 

under the same circumstances (the "Partnership Option"). CP 213; 

Supplemental Appendix B. The Manager chose not to pursue the 

Partnership Option, and concealed its existence and implications from 

O'Brien and its advisors, lest any resulting "due diligence" become a "deal 

killer." !d. 
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E. The Manager's Efforts to Obtain Approval 

Having obtained O'Brien's agreement, the Manager then sent 

notice by mail on May 15,2012, to each of the partners other than O'Brien 

and asked each to sign a "Consent and Waiver" (the "Consent") under 

which they would (1) consent to the Manager's acquisition and exercise of 

an option to purchase the O'Brien interest at Mr. O'Brien's death and (2) 

waive any rights of first refusal the transaction might give rise to. The 

Consent made no mention of the Partnership Option or what would 

become of it. CP 117-19; Supplemental Appendix C. 

Other than informing the partners for the first time that Mr. 

O'Brien was terminally ill and that he and O'Brien had been negotiating 

and had agreed to the Disputed Purchase, the Manager made no disclosure 

whatsoever regarding the transaction. ld. He did not provide the partners 

with copies of the Partnership Agreement they had signed in 1988 or 

describe the relevant provisions. He did not disclose the price he was 

paying for the O'Brien Interest or the value of the Partnership. He only 

said "feel free to call if you have questions." !d. 

Each ofthe partners, other than RSD, signed and returned to the 

Manager the requested Consent without asking any questions? The 

Manager also signed the Consent. The Manager's own vote of his 

2 In this litigation the Manager described the other partners as his ·'friends and family.'" 
CP 51-52. 
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20.618% interest was necessary to achieve the percentage of votes he now 

claims he needed to approve the transaction. 

F. RSD's Futile Efforts to Obtain Information from the 
Manager and to Share in the Disputed Purchase. 

RSD did not sign the Consent and Waiver. CP 94; Supplemental 

Appendix D. Upon learning of the transaction/ RSD requested 

information about the price and terms. CP 130-31. The Manager failed 

and refused to provide it. Later, the Manager offered to provide it ifRSD 

would .first consent to the transaction. CP 134. Only after Mr. O'Brien 

had died four weeks later and the Manager had exercised its Option did 

the Manager provide a copy of the written Option Agreement with 

O'Brien. CP 139. RSD then made a timely election to exercise its right of 

first refusal. 4 

RSD believed the Right ofFirst Refusal under Section 7.3 of the 

Partnership Agreement applied to the sale of the O'Brien Interest. On July 

13, 2012, RSD wrote to the Manager informing him that, if he completed 

the Disputed Purchase RSD would consider that purchase to be made "on 

behalf of all partners entitled and electing to participate." CP 215-16. 

3 RSD became aware of the notice when its president actually received the notice in early 
June. CP 180. 
4 The Manager now claims RSD was required to send the notice to O'Brien, but be never 
made that assertion when RSD contacted the Manager regarding the Disputed Purchase, 
and never provided O'Brien's official notice address, which was in the Partnership 
records that he maintained. Had RSD contacted the wrong person, it was certainly the 
Manager's duty to inform it of the mistake. 
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Nevertheless, the Manager closed its purchase on August 2, 2012, prior to 

the expiration ofRSD's 30 day election period. CP 57. 

With regard to a prior sale of a departing partner's five percent 

interest in 1988, the Manager took care to "immediately" remind the 

partners that they had "an option to purchase" the selling partner's interest, 

and provided the selling price. CP 204; Supplemental Appendix E.5 

In the Option agreement, the Manager acknowledged that he used 

his position as Manager and his "full and complete access to all assets of 

the Partnership (including all its books, records and financial 

information)" to become "fully informed regarding the subject of this 

transaction." CP 122; Supplemental Appendix F. 

VI. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING REVIEW 

This Court should accept review of the published decision ofthe 

Court of Appeals (the "Decision") for the following reasons: 

1. The Decision conflicts with RCW 25.05.160(3)(a) and 

Crisman v. Crisman, 85 Wn. App. 15 (1997), in failing to require 

affirmative disclosure of all material information by the Manager (and 

5 The Manager's conduct was different from its past practice on other occasions when it 
learned that a partner wished to sell its interest or when a partner died. When Mr. Resoff 
died in 2002, the offer to purchase his 20.6186% interest was made by the Manager on 
behalf of the Partnership. CP 218. When Mr. Carr withdrew in 1991, the Partnership 
purchased his interest at an agreed price. CP 53. The difference in the Manager's 
behavior is explained by the fact that in these three prior instances, he did not have 
employment and pecuniary interests that conflicted with the interests of the Partnership 
and the other partners. 
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Managing Partner), and in instead holding that a mere "invitation" to the 

other partners to ask questions discharges the duty of disclosure. 

2. The Decision conflicts with the settled law in other 

jurisdictions, and significantly dilutes a partner's duty of disclosure, in 

holding that a partner discharges his duty of disclosure by "eventually" 

disclosing material information, even after first exploiting that information 

for his own private benefit. 

3. The Decision conflicts with Bovy v. Graham, Cohen & 

Wampold, 17 Wn. App. 567, 571 n.3 (1977), and a number of additional 

published Washington decisions, in refusing to hold a managing partner to 

a higher duty than the non-managing partners. 

4. The Decision conflicts with In re Wilson's Estate, 50 

Wn.2d 840 (1957), regarding the circumstances under which a partner 

may pursue his own individual interests without violating the duty of 

loyalty, by ignoring the factors set forth in that case and deciding the issue 

based on novel and irrelevant considerations. 

5. The Decision interprets RCW 25.05.165(5) as permitting a 

managing partner to pursue self-interest in a transaction even when its 

interest is adverse to that of the Partnership in the same transaction. 

6. The Decision allows the managing partner to cast the 

deciding vote to approve a transaction in which he had a conflict of 

interest with the Partnership. 
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7. The Decision conflicts with Obert v. Environmental 

Research and Dev. Corp., 112 Wn.2d 323 (1989) in confusing technical 

compliance with a contract with discharge of fiduciary duty. 

8. The Decision conflicts with Kitsap County v. Allstate Ins. 

Co., 136 Wn.2d 567, 576 (1998), by failing to give meaning to every 

provision of the partnership agreement. 

Taken alone or together, these issues are of substantial public 

interest and go to the heart of what it means to be a partner in a 

Washington partnership. See J&J Celcom v. AT&T Wireless Services, 

Inc., 481 F.3d 1138, 1142 (9th Cir. 2007) (certifying to this Court question 

of Washington partnership law regarding the duty ofloyalty, because the 

clarification from this Court "will have far-reaching effects on those who 

contract in Washington, or are subject to Washington law"). 

A. The Court Should Accept Review To Clarify the 
Standards of Conduct Under WRUPA. 

The general standards of partners' conduct in the Revised Uniform 

Partnership Act, as adopted in Washington ("WRUPA"), contain 

provisions which appear to pull in opposite directions. See RCW 

25.05.165, 25.05.015(2). The duties ofloyalty and care, and the 

obligation to perform all duties and exercise all rights consistent with the 

obligation of good faith and fair dealing, are found in the same section that 

grants (limited) pennission to a partner to further its own interest. The 

proper reconciliation of those competing concepts is an issue of substantial 

public interest, going to the very heart of what it means to be a partner in 
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Washington. The Decision gave priority to the pursuit of self-interest, 

misconstruing the word "merely." That is not what the Legislature 

intended and should not be the rule in Washington. 

1. The Decision Conflicts with Settled Precedent by 
Holding That a Partner Need Not Affirmatively 
Disclose Information to the Other Partners. 

In Crisman, 85 Wn. App. at 22, the court held that a fiduciary 

owes an "affirmative duty of disclosure" to "fully disclose all facts relating 

to his interest in and his actions involving the affected property," and that 

failure to disclose is tantamount to actual concealment. In Karle v. Seder, 

35 Wn.2d 542, 550 (1950) this Court held the sale of a partnership interest 

between two partners triggers the purchasing partner's duty of"full 

disclosure of all material facts within his knowledge." (Emphasis added).6 

A partner has a duty to "fully disclose all known information that 

is significant and material to the affairs or property of the partnership." 

Bishop of Victoria Corp. Sole v. Corp. Bus. Park, LLC, 138 Wn. App. 443, 

458 (2007). As Karle demonstrates, the "affairs ... of the partnership" 

include the transfers of partnership interests, whether by sale or otherwise. 

6 While the party aggrieved in Karle was the selling partner, the principle applies with 
equal force where, as here, the aggrieved parties are the partners being asked to consent 
to the transaction, thereby waiving their rights to participate, either directly or indirectly, 
in the purchase. They are, in effect, sellers. This Court affirmed the continued vitality of 
Karle in J&J Celcom v. AT&T Wireless Sen'ices, Inc., 162 Wn.2d 102, 107 (2007). 
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The affirmative duty to disclose was recognized and codified in 

WRUP A. RCW 25.05.160(3)(a) provides that a partner must disclose, 

[w}ithout demand, any information concerning the 
partnership's business and affairs reasonably required for the 
proper exercise of the partner's rights and duties under the 
partnership agreement or this chapter. 

(emphasis added). 7 The Decision conflicts with case law and the statute in 

holding that the Manager discharged his duty of disclosure merely by 

telling the other partners: "feel free to call if you have questions" about 

the Disputed Purchase. Decision at 4, 13-14; Supplemental Appendix C. 8 

But WRUPA, as well as cases from Washington and other jurisdictions9
, 

clearly establish that the duty of disclosure is a duty to affirmatively 

disclose. Absent affirmative disclosure of all material information, the 

other partners may not be on notice that they should make specific 

requests for information that may be material to their interests. 10 

7 Here, the rights that the Manager asked the partners to exercise on May 15, 2012, were: 
( 1) to consent or withhold their consent to the Disputed Purchase; and (2) to waive or not 
waive any right of first refusal the transaction might give rise to. 
8 The only information that the Manager "affirmatively" disclosed was that the 20.618% 
O'Brien interest was available and that the Manager had already secured a deal to 
purchase it for himself. CP 117; Supplemental Appendix C. He did not disclose the most 
critical information, such as the price and the Partnership's right to purchase the O'Brien 
Interest under the partnership agreement and the rights of first refusal it was asking them 
to waive. 
9 TSA Intern. Ltd. v. Shimizu Corp., 990 P.2d 713, 728 (Haw. 1999) ("The duty of 
disclosure ... requires affirmative, timely disclosure without prompting.") (emphasis 
added); Silverberg\'. Colantuno, 991 P.2d 280, 285 (Colo. App. 1998) (same). 
10 See Glaziers and Glassworkers Union Local No. 252 Annuity Fund v. Newbridge 
Securities, Inc., 93 F.3d 1171. 1181 (3rd Cir. 1996) (absent a partner's affirmative 

(continued ... ) 
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The Decision equates a mere invitation to "feel free to ask 

questions" with the affirmative disclosure required of a partner. Any 

partner is "free" at any time to "ask questions"; the Manager's statement 

to that effect does nothing to discharge his duty. The Decision creates a 

troubling precedent and significantly dilutes the duty of disclosure that is 

at the core of the statutory and common law of agency and partnerships. 

2. The Decision Incorrectly Holds That a Partner 
Discharges His Duty to Disclose So Long As He 
"Eventually" Discloses Material Information, 
Even After the Transaction In Question. 

The Decision holds that the duty of disclosure was satisfied 

because the Manager "eventually disclosed the details of the transaction to 

RSD." Decision at 14 (emphasis added). The delay here prevented RSD 

from evaluating and exercising its right of first refusal until after the 

Manager had completed its purchase. The very purpose of imposing a 

duty of disclosure is to give the other partners a fair opportunity to 

evaluate and act on the information before being overtaken by events. As 

such, the duty means nothing unless it is a duty of timely disclosure. 

Decisions from other jurisdictions have made this explicit. 11 

( ... continued) 

disclosure of material information, another partner "may have no reason to suspect that it 
should make inquiry into what may appear to be a routine matter"). 
11 TSA Intern., 990 P .2d at 728 ("'The duty of disclosure requires ... affirmative, timely 
disclosure without prompting.'") (emphasis added); Silverberg, 991 P.2d at 285 (same). 
Indeed, the federal Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals held that a partner violated its duty of 
disclosure when it did what the Manager did here, that is, wait until it had exploited 

(continued ... ) 
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This Court should grant review to correct the holding that a 

partner's "eventual" disclosure satisfies the duty to disclose, and to 

establish that the duty requires, at a minimum, that a partner disclose 

information before he exploits that information for his own benefit. 

B. The Decision Explicitly Conflicts With Division 2's 
Holding and This Court's Precedents, That a Managing 
Partner Owes a Higher Duty Than Other Partners. 

The conduct complained of in this case is not merely the conduct 

of one partner, among many, in its capacity as a partner. It is the conduct 

of the Manager and Managing Partner, who alone was charged with 

managing the affairs of the Partnership, and was granted a power of 

attorney by every other partner to facilitate that management. CP 229, 

244-45. 12 A number of Washington cases have held that a managing 

partner owes a higher duty than that owed by the non-managing partners. 

These cases establish that a managing partner is a "trustee" of the 

partnership, and as such must in all matters related to partnership affairs 

act solely in the partnership's interest and place the partnership's interest 

ahead of its own. See Bovy, 17 Wn. App. at 571 n.3 ("as managing 

( ... continued) 

information for its own benefit before it disclosed that information to the other partners. 
Triple Five of Minnesota, Inc. v. Simon, 404 F.3d 1088, 1098 (8th Cir. 2005). 
12 The fact that the Manager also held a power of attorney for each partner is yet another 
basis for holding him to the highest fiduciary standard. Keene v. Board of Accountancy, 
77 Wn. App. 849, 858 (1995) (power of attorney brings with it the duty "to avoid any 
possible conflict of interest by acting solely in [the grantor's] interest") (emphasis added). 
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partner, Bovy occupied a higher fiduciary position [than the other general 

partners] and had the burden of dispelling all doubts concerning the 

discharge ofhis duties") (emphasis added); Guntle v. Barnett, 73 Wn. 

App. 825, 835 & n. 18 (1994) {"The managing partner acts as trustee for 

the partnership."); In re Wilson's Estate, 50 Wn.2d at 846 (rule requiring 

managing partner to maintain complete records "is grounded upon the 

theory that the managing partner is acting as a trustee for his firm"); In re 

Tembreull's Estate, 37 Wn.2d 93, 102 (1950); Simich v. Culjak, 27 Wn.2d 

403,408 (1947); Monroe v. Winn, 16 Wn.2d 497,508 (1943). 13 

Here, the Court of Appeals expressly refused to apply Bovy, and 

instead held the Manager to the same fiduciary standard to which all other, 

non-managing partners are held under WRUPA. Decision at 14-15. 

However, whatever WRUP A has to say about the duties of partners as 

such, it did not even purport to address-let alone make changes to-the 

long-established common law and equitable principles of partnership and 

13 These authorities reflect the rule applied in other jurisdictions as well. See 1. William 
Callison and Maureen A. Sullivan, Partnership Law and Practice,~ 12:4 (2015) ("When 
a partner alleges that a managing partner breached his or her fiduciary duties, all doubts 
are resolved against the managing partner and the burden of proof is on the managing 
partner."); Triple Five of Minnesota, Inc. v. Simon, 404 F.3d 1088, 1097 (8th Cir. 2005) 
("a managing partner owes the highest possible fiduciary duty to his partners"); Thomas 
r. Leighton, 324 S.W.3d 150, 153 (Tex. App. 2010); Fernandez v. Garza, 354 P.2d 260, 
264 (Ariz. 1960); Meinhard v. Salmon, 164 N.E. 545, 546 (N.Y. 1928) . 
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agency with respect to the particular rules governing third party managers 

and managing general partners. 14 

The fiduciary duties of managing partners are a function not just of 

their status as partners, but of the additional voluntary entrustment to them 

by each of the other partners of all or a portion of the management powers 

and duties each would otherwise hold and exercise directly as a partner. 

That entrustment brings with it an additional set of fiduciary obligations 

under the principles of the law of Agency. "An agent has a fiduciary duty 

to act loyally for the principal's benefit in all matters connected with the 

agency relationship." Restatement (Third) Agency§ 8.01 (2015). This 

duty "requires that the agent subordinate the agent's interests to those of 

the principal and place the principal's interests first as to matters 

connected with the agency relationship." !d. (emphasis added). 

The refusal of the Court of Appeals to follow these precedents and 

to recognize the principle not only creates a conflict between published 

opinions in this State; it also leads to an absurd result. If the partners 

contracted with a nan-partner to manage the business and affairs of the 

Partnership and paid it for its services, no one would suggest that the

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