RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jan 04, 2016, 3:20 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER

No. 92650-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

No. 71926-2-1 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

TRACI TURNER,

Plaintiff/Appellant/Petitioner

VS.

VULCAN, INC., et al.,

Defendants/Respondents.

ANSWER OF RAY COLLIVER AND LAURA MACDONALD TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

GORDON TILDEN THOMAS
& CORDELL LLP
Jeffrey I. Tilden, WSBA #12219
Michael P. Brown, WSBA #45618
1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4000
Seattle, Washington 98154-1007
Attorneys for DefendantsRespondents Ray Colliver and Laura
Macdonald.

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

V. ARGUMENT AGAINST GRANTING REVIEW

"The party seeking to avoid arbitration has the burden to show that the arbitration clause is unenforceable." *Gandee v. LDL Freedom*Enterprises, Inc., 176 Wn.2d 598, 602–03 (2013). Under the Federal
Arbitration Act (FAA), 9 U.S.C. §§ 1–14, arbitration agreements are
"valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." *Id.* at 603, 293 P.3d
1197 (quoting 9 U.S.C. § 2). Because both state and federal law favor arbitration, all presumptions are made in favor of arbitration. *Zuver v.*Airtouch Comme'ns, Inc., 153 Wn.2d 293, 301 (2004).

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed the Superior Court's Holding That the Arbitrator Should Decide Turner's Challenge to the Contract as a Whole.

Ms. Turner contends that she was entitled to a judicial determination of her unconscionability challenge in a Rule 56 proceeding, rather than a determination by the arbitrator. However, this Court has clearly held that the arbitrator must hear a challenge that implicates the validity of a "contract as a whole," while the court should decide challenges that are "only and specifically directed to an arbitration clause"

appearing in a contract. *See Townshend v. Quadrant Corp.*, 173 Wn.2d 451, 458 (2012) (quotations omitted). The Court of Appeals held that Ms. Turner's unconscionability challenge was directed "to the contract as a whole," and not specifically targeted at the arbitration clause contained in that contract. Decision at 12. In her Petition, Ms. Turner does not take issue with that well-reasoned conclusion. Petition at 9-12.⁵

Ms. Turner's tacit concession on this point, while understandable, is fatal to her Petition. She makes no attempt to distinguish *Townsend*, other than a passing and unsupported comment, at the end of a footnote, that the "situation" in this case is "entirely different" because Ms. Turner was an existing employee of Vulcan when she was presented with the GBA and allegedly given an ultimatum to sign it or lose her job. Petition at 10 n.8. The Court need not consider an argument presented in a footnote, *State v. N.E.*, 70 Wn. App. 602, 606 n. 3 (1993), nor need it consider a bare and conclusory assertion unsupported by citations to

⁵ Ms. Turner's argument was that the GBA was procedurally unconscionable because she was instructed to sign it "under threat of termination." Petition at 2. That challenge implicates the GBA as a whole, not "only and specifically" the arbitration clause contained therein. See Townsend, 173 Wn.2d at 459-60 (unconscionability argument attacked agreement as a whole where it was based on alleged denial of a fair opportunity to read and consider its terms and alleged coercion).

authority or the record, Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809 (1992).

Moreover, to the extent that Ms. Turner makes any "argument" here, it is entirely circular. *Townsend* holds that an unconscionability challenge that goes to the contract as a whole must be heard by the arbitrator. Ms. Turner argues that *Townsend* does not apply here because she was effectively coerced into signing the GBA, that is, because the GBA as a whole is unconscionable. Far from distinguishing *Townsend*, Ms. Turner's "coercion" argument is what brings her case squarely within its holding. *See Townshend*, 173 Wn.2d at 460 (unconscionability challenge is for arbitrator to decide where one can rule on the challenge "only by deciding whether the agreement as a whole is unenforceable"). 6

Finally, Ms. Turner argues that the court was required to decide her challenge to the validity of an arbitration agreement because the parties to the GBA did not "clearly and unmistakably" delegate such challenges to the arbitrator. Petition at 10. The clear-and-unmistakable

⁶ Ms. Turner's citations to *Hill v. Garda*, 178 Wn.2d 47, 53 (2013) and *Saleemi v. Doctor's Associates, Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 368, 377 (2013) are unavailing, because in each of those cases the challenge was specifically directed at the arbitration/dispute resolution provisions of the contract, and not the contract as a whole.

delegation principle does not apply where, as here, the unconscionability challenge goes to the contract as a whole, rather than the arbitration clause specifically. See Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardegna, 546 U.S. 440, 449 (2006); Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co., 388 U.S. 395, 400 (1967).

In contrast to this case, two of the cases Ms. Turner cites for this proposition involved challenges made "only and specifically" to the arbitration clauses contained in contracts. See Brown v. MHN Gov't Services, Inc., 178 Wn.2d 258, 264-65 (2013) (plaintiff challenged five provisions in the arbitration clause appearing in a "provider services" agreement); Gorden v. Lloyd Ward & Associates, P.C., 180 Wn. App. 552, 558 (2014) (plaintiff challenged two aspects of arbitration clause appearing in client services agreements between themselves and attorneys). In the third case cited by Ms. Turner, Romney v. Franciscan Med. Group, 186 Wn. App. 728, 735 (2014), the Court of Appeals observed the general rule that courts decide whether arbitration agreements are unconscionable. However, it appears that neither party in that case argued that the plaintiff's challenge should be decided by the arbitrator, and the court did not mention, let alone discuss the Buckeye/Prima Paint rule followed by this Court in Townsend, that challenges to the contract as a whole are decided by the arbitrator rather

than the court. *Id. Romney* is not authority for a proposition that the court neither discussed nor decided. *Kucera v. Dep't of Trans.*, 140 Wn.2d 200, 220 (2000) (noting courts "do not rely on cases that fail to specifically raise or decide an issue.") (quotations omitted).

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Held That
Ms. Turner's Unconscionability Arguments Were
Meritless.

As an alternative holding, the Court of Appeals addressed the merits of Ms. Turner's unconscionability challenge to the GBA, and correctly rejected it. In her Petition Ms. Turner does not take issue with the Court of Appeals' rejection of her argument that the GBA was substantively unconscionable. With regard to procedural unconscionability, the Court of Appeals correctly observed that, while Ms. Turner argues that she was given only 24 hours to understand the terms of the GBA, she admits that she didn't even bother to read the GBA once before signing—she simply flipped to the final page and signed it. Decision at 15. Ms. Turner can hardly claim that 24 hours was an "unconscionably" inadequate amount of time to read an agreement, when she didn't take one minute to read it before executing it. See Dreher v. Eskco, Inc., 2009 WL 2176060 at *16 (S.D. Ohio July 21, 2009) ("the fatal weakness in Plaintiff's assertion of procedural unconscionability is the fact that she did not read the whole Employment Agreement before

signing it. Because she failed to read the whole agreement, no issue regarding the meaning or substance of the arbitration provision arose prior to Plaintiff agreeing to the terms of the Employment Agreement as conclusively established by her signature . . . [a party] cannot be excused from complying with the arbitration provision if it simply failed properly to read the contract") (quotations omitted); Crawford Professional Drugs, Inc. v. CVS Caremark Corp., 748 F.3d 249, 265 (5th Cir. 2014) (plaintiff cannot claim arbitration agreement is procedurally unconscionable after choosing not to read it before signing).

The Court of Appeals also correctly rejected Ms. Turner's argument, that the GBA was *necessarily* unconscionable merely because she faced the threat of losing her job if she did not sign it. Decision at 16, *citing Romney*, 186 Wn. App. at 739-40 (the fact that a contract is presented as a condition of employment does not make it procedurally unconscionable; inquiry is whether the plaintiff had a "meaningful choice" in deciding whether or not to sign, and an employee has the ability to reject the agreement an "choose employment elsewhere"). Ms. Turner argues that the Decision conflicts with *Mayne v. Monaco Enterprises, Inc.*, 361 P.3d 264, 268 (Wn. App. 2015), where the Court of Appeals held that procedural unconscionability was demonstrated when an employer presented a nine-year veteran employee with an arbitration agreement and

explicitly informed him he would be fired if he did not sign. However, the Decision here is entirely consistent with *Mayne*.

In finding the arbitration agreement procedurally unconscionable, the *Mayne* court explicitly relied on the fact that the employee was not given *any* additional consideration for his agreement to the arbitration provision. *Id.* Indeed, the court observed that such arbitration agreements would *not* be unconscionable where the employee is "offered *some incentive as consideration*" for agreeing to arbitration. *Id.* at 269 (emphasis added). Here, Ms. Turner was plainly given "additional consideration" for her agreement to sign the GBA, in the form of a guarantee that she would receive a \$25,000 "bonus" that, in the absence of the executed GBA, was entirely discretionary. CP 280-83.

Further, in *Mayne* the employer explicitly made signing the agreement a condition of employment, and told the plaintiff he would be fired if he did not sign. *Mayne*, 361 P.3d at 260. Here, by sharp contrast, Ms. Turner relies solely on the allegation that she "believed [she] would be retaliated against and ultimately fired" if she did not sign the agreement. CP 623 (emphasis added). A party's subjective belief is not evidence of unconscionability. *See THI of New Mexico v. Patton*, 2012 WL 112216 at *22 (D.N.M. Jan. 3, 2012) ("Nor is Ms. Barry's mere subjective feeling of not being free to decline arbitration terms enough to

demonstrate procedural unconscionability.") (quotations omitted).

C. Ms. Turner Failed to Satisfy the Requirement That She Demonstrate Prejudice Resulting From the Order Compelling Arbitration.

Ms. Turner did not seek immediate review of either Judge Oishi's or Judge Benton's orders compelling arbitration. As such, to prevail on this appeal, she must demonstrate not only that those orders were made in error, but also that she suffered prejudice as a result of that error. *Saleemi*, 176 Wn.2d at 380 ("We join the emerging consensus of courts and hold that a party who fails to seek discretionary review of an order compelling arbitration, must show prejudice as a condition of relief from the arbitration award. This approach promotes prime purposes of arbitration, speed and convenience, while allowing the truly aggrieved party to obtain relief."). "Error will not be considered prejudicial unless it affects, or presumptively affects, the outcome of the trial." *Id.* (citations omitted).

In the Court of Appeals, Ms. Turner addressed this requirement only in passing, and came nowhere close to satisfying it. Appendix A at 26. Ms. Turner's sole argument addressed to this central issue is this casual reference:

To the extent that it is necessary to show prejudice from the Order [compelling arbitration], the harm is evident in the "daunting," "shocking," "overly-harsh" \$113,325 in [attorney's] fees against Turner... Id. However, the arbitrator's award of attorney's fees in that amount came after the arbitration ended. Ms. Turner does not even attempt to explain how her ability to advance her interests during the arbitration were prejudiced by an attorney's fee award that came afterward. Indeed, Ms. Turner would have faced the very same liability for attorney's fees under her contract with Vulcan, had her claims proceeded in court rather than arbitration. There was no prejudice.

Elsewhere in her brief Ms. Turner referred to the high cost of AAA and arbitrator's fees. But she did not even *argue* that being billed for these fees prevented her from presenting her case to the arbitrator. In fact, Ms. Turner's ability to proceed in the arbitration was never affected by the arbitration fees, and Vulcan ultimately paid for *all* of those fees. CP 3039-42. Ms. Turner also referred to her attorney's withdrawal from the case during the arbitration and her inability to retain new counsel. However, there is no indication whatsoever that these obstacles arose *because* the dispute was in arbitration rather than in superior court, or that Ms. Turner would not have faced the same challenges with respect to securing counsel in a judicial forum.

⁷ The award was later reduced, on remand to the arbitrator, to \$39,524.50. CP 3986.

In light of Ms. Turner's complete failure to show prejudice, the Court of Appeals could and should have affirmed the superior court even if, *arguendo*, Ms. Turner had demonstrated that the orders were made in error. *Saleemi*, 176 Wn.2d at 380.

VI. CONCLUSION

Ms. Turner fails to establish any basis for this Court to exercise discretionary review. Mr. Colliver and Ms. Macdonald respectfully request that the Court deny Ms. Turner's Petition.